
Motion to Dismiss  

A motion to dismiss filed under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (“Rule”) 12(b)(6) tests the 

legal sufficiency of the complaint. Kost v. Kozakiewicz, 1 F.3d 176, 183 (3d Cir. 1993). A plaintiff 

must allege sufficient facts that, if accepted as true, state a claim for relief plausible on its face. 

See Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007); see also Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 

662, 678 (2009). A court must accept all well-pleaded factual allegations as true and view them in 

the light most favorable to a plaintiff. See Fowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 

2009); see also DiCarlo v. St. Mary Hosp., 530 F.3d 255, 262–63 (3d Cir. 2008). Although the 

court must accept the allegations in the Complaint as true, it is “not compelled to accept 

unsupported conclusions and unwarranted inferences, or a legal conclusion couched as a factual 

allegation.” Baraka v. McGreevey, 481 F.3d 187, 195 (3d Cir. 2007) (citations omitted).  

The “plausibility” standard required for a complaint to survive a motion to dismiss is not 

akin to a “probability” requirement, but asks for more than sheer “possibility.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 

678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556). In other words, the complaint’s factual allegations must be 

enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level, on the assumption that all the 

allegations are true even if doubtful in fact. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555. Facial plausibility is present 

when a plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that 

a defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged. Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Even if the complaint’s 

well-pleaded facts lead to a plausible inference, that inference alone will not entitle a plaintiff to 

relief. Id. at 682. The complaint must support the inference with facts to plausibly justify that 

inferential leap. Id.  

Generally, a court may not consider an extraneous document when reviewing a motion to 

dismiss. In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir. 1997). If parties 

present matters outside the pleadings and the court does not exclude them, the motion must be 



converted to a motion for summary judgment. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d). When reviewing the 

sufficiency of a complaint, however, a court may consider attachments to it without converting the 

motion into one for summary judgment if they are integral to the allegations in the complaint and 

are authentic. See In re Burlington, 114 F.3d at 1426 (holding that a court may consider a 

“document integral to or explicitly relied upon in the complaint”); ALA, Inc. v. CCAIR, Inc., 29 

F.3d 855, 859 (3d Cir. 1994) (same); Fallon v. Mercy Cath. Med. Ctr. of Se. Pa., 877 F.3d 487, 

493 (3d Cir. 2017) (same); Fed. R. Civ. P. 10(c) (“A copy of a written instrument that is an exhibit 

to a pleading is a part of the pleading for all purposes.”); see also Pension Ben. Guar. Corp. v. 

White Consol. Indus., Inc., 998 F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993) (holding that a court may consider 

an “undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as an exhibit to a motion to dismiss 

if the plaintiff’s claims are based on the document”). 

Summary Judgment  

Summary judgment is warranted if the Court is satisfied that there is no genuine issue as 

to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(a); see also Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). A fact is material 

if it must be decided to resolve the substantive claim or defense to which the motion is directed. 

See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). And there is a genuine dispute of 

material fact “if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving 

party.” Id. The Court must view the evidence presented in the light most favorable to the 

nonmoving party. Id. at 255. It refrains from making credibility determinations or weighing the 

evidence. Id. “[R]eal questions about credibility, gaps in the evidence, and doubts as to the 

sufficiency of the movant’s proof” will defeat a motion for summary judgment. El v. SEPTA, 479 

F.3d 232, 238 (3d Cir. 2007). 



Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings  

Rule 12(c) provides that “[a]fter the pleadings are closed—but early enough not to delay 

trial—a party may move for judgment on the pleadings.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(c). Judgment is granted 

only when the moving party establishes that there are no material issues of fact and that it is entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law. Sherzer v. Homestar Mortg. Servs., 707 F.3d 255, 257 (3d Cir. 

2013) (citing Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. v. Squires, 667 F.3d 388, 390 (3d Cir. 2012)). A court can 

rule that a party is entitled to judgment under Rule 12(c) sua sponte or upon motion. See Murray 

v. Silberstein, 882 F.2d 61, 64 (3d Cir. 1989).  

The primary distinction between motions under Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(c) is timing: if a 

motion is filed before an answer, it is a motion to dismiss; if after, it is a motion for judgment on 

the pleadings. In re Brizinova, 592 B.R. 459 (E.D.N.Y. 2018). This distinction is merely semantic 

because the same standard of review generally applies to both. Turbe v. Gov’t of V.I., 938 F.2d 

427, 428 (3d Cir. 1991); 2 James Wm. Moore et al., Moore’s Fed. Prac. § 12.38 (3d ed. 1997).  

The critical difference between motions to dismiss and motions for judgment on the 

pleadings is not the standard of a court’s review but its scope. Unlike motions to dismiss, a court 

reviewing a motion for judgment on the pleadings considers not only the complaint but also the 

written answer and attachments to the pleadings. Compare In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. 

Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir. 1997) (“As a general matter, a district court ruling on a motion 

to dismiss may not consider matters extraneous to the pleadings.” (citing Angelastro v. Prudential-

Bache Sec., Inc., 764 F.2d 939, 944 (3d Cir. 1985)), with Horsley v. Feldt, 304 F.3d 1125, 1134 

(11th Cir. 2002) (“It would seem to follow that if an attachment to an answer is a ‘written 

instrument,’ it is part of the pleadings and can be considered on a Rule 12(c) motion for judgment 

on the pleadings without the motion being converted to one for summary judgment.”), and Ferencz 

v. Medlock, 905 F. Supp. 2d 656, 663 (W.D. Pa. 2012) (“The only notable difference is that a court, 



for a motion on the pleadings, may review not only the complaint but also the answer and written 

instruments attached to the pleadings.” (citing Brautigam v. Fraley, 684 F. Supp. 2d 589, 591–92 

(M.D. Pa. 2010)).1 A plaintiff must allege sufficient facts that, if accepted as true, state a claim for 

relief plausible on its face. See Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007); see also 

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). In ruling on this motion, the Court must accept all 

facts in the complaint in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and “accept all of the 

allegations as true.” ALA, Inc. v. CCAIR, Inc., 29 F.3d 855, 859 (3d Cir. 1994).  

1 When reviewing a motion to dismiss, a court may only review attachments to a complaint if they 
are integral to a plaintiff’s allegations and are authentic. In re Burlington Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 
114 F.3d at 1426 (citing cases).  
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SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD UNDER PA LAW 

Rule 1035.2 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure states: 

After the relevant pleadings are closed, but within such time as not to 
unreasonably delay trial, any party may move for summary judgment 
in whole or in part as a matter of law 
(1) whenever there is no genuine issue of any material fact as to a 
necessary element of the cause of action or defense which could be 
established by additional discovery or expert report, or 
(2) if, after the completion of discovery relevant to this motion, 
including the production of expert reports, an adverse party who will 
bear the burden of proof at trial has failed to produce evidence of facts 
essential to the cause of action or defense which in a jury trial would 
require the issues to be submitted to a jury. 

If a defendant is the moving party, it may make the necessary showing to 

support the entry of summary judgment by pointing to materials which indicate that 

the plaintiff is unable to satisfy an element of his/her cause of action. In order to 

successfully oppose a motion for summary judgment, the opposing party must 

substantiate its assertion that there are genuine issues of material fact to be tried by 

pointing to evidence in the record. If the opponent is unable to do so, the movant is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

Summary judgment is appropriate only in those cases where the record clearly 

demonstrates that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party 

is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Pa.R.Civ.P. 1035.2; see also Murphy v. 

Duquesne Univ. of the Holy Ghost, 777 A.2d 418, 429 (Pa. 2001). The reviewing 

court must view the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, 
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resolving all doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact against the 

moving party. Basile v. H & R Block, Inc., 761 A.2d 1115, 1118 (Pa. 2000). When 

the facts are so clear that reasonable minds cannot differ, a trial court may properly 

enter summary judgment. Id. (citing Cochran v. GAF Corp., 666 A.2d 245, 248 (Pa. 

1995)). 

When considering a motion for summary judgment, the trial court must take 

all facts of record and reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to 

the non-moving party. Toy v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 928 A.2d 186, 195 (Pa. 

2007). In so doing, the trial court must resolve all doubts as to the existence of a 

genuine issue of material fact against the moving party, and, thus, may only grant 

summary judgment "where the right to such judgment is clear and free from all 

doubt." Summers v. Certainteed Corp., 997 A.2d 1152 (Pa. 2010). 

Circumstantial evidence may be sufficient to deny summary judgment. First 

v. Zem Zem Temple, 686 A.2d 18 (Pa. Super. 1996). Under Pennsylvania law, oral 

testimony alone of the moving party, either through testimonial affidavits or 

depositions, even the testimony of an expert witness, and even if uncontradicted, is 

insufficient to establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, because the 

matter of credibility is for the jury. Nanty-Glo v. American Surety Company, 163 A. 

523 (Pa. 1932); Penn Center House, Inc. v. Hoffman, 553 A.2d 900 (Pa. 1989). 
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Where a motion for summary judgment is based upon insufficient evidence of 

facts, the adverse party must come forward with evidence essential to preserve the 

cause of action. If the nonmoving party fails to come forward with sufficient 

evidence to establish or contest a material issue to the case, the moving party is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The nonmoving party must adduce sufficient 

evidence on an issue essential to its case and on which it bears the burden of proof 

such that a jury could return a verdict favorable to the nonmoving party. Ertel v. 

Patriot-News Co., 674 A.2d 1038 (Pa. 1996); Grandelli v. Methodist Hosp., 2001 

PA Super 155, 777 A.2d 1138. 

The procedure for disposing of motions for summary judgment are the same 

as the procedures set forth in Allegheny County Local Rule 1034(a) for the 

disposition of motions for judgment on the pleadings.  

PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS STANDARD UNDER PA LAW 

The filing of Preliminary Objections is authorized under Rule 1028 

Pa.R.Civ.P. The standard of review to assess a challenge sustaining preliminary 

objections in the nature of a demurrer is as follows: All material facts set forth in the 

complaint as well as all inferences reasonably deducible therefrom are admitted as 

true for the purpose of the review. The question presented by the demurrer is 

whether, on the facts averred, the law says with certainty that no recovery is possible. 

Where a doubt exists as to whether a demurrer should be sustained, this doubt should 



{S0517520.1}

be resolved in favor of overruling it. Wawa, Inc. v. Alexander J. Litwornia & Assocs., 

2003 PA Super 55, 817 A.2d 543. 

In general, in ruling on preliminary objections, the court is not permitted to 

consider matters outside of the complaint. Detweiler v. School Dist., 104 A.2d 110 

(Pa. 1954); Bonanni v. Weston Hauling, Inc., 140 A.2d 591 (Pa. 1958). However, it 

is well settled that a court may rely on documents forming in part the foundation of 

the suit even where a plaintiff does not attach such documents to its complaint. 

Conrad v. Pittsburgh, 218 A.2d 906 (Pa. 1966); Detweiler v. School Dist., 104 A.2d 

110 (Pa. 1954); see also St. Peter's Roman Catholic Parish v. Urban Redevelopment 

Authority of Pittsburgh, 146 A.2d 724 (Pa. 1958) (where complaint refers to various 

documents in order to establish plaintiff's claim but the complaint contains only one 

of them as an exhibit, exhibits attached to a preliminary objection may be relied 

upon). 

At the same time, the court is not bound to accept as true the averments in the 

complaints as to the legal effect of agreements, for although a demurrer admits every 

well pleaded, material, relevant fact and every inference fairly deducible from the 

facts pleaded, it does not admit as true an alleged construction of a written 

instrument. Detweiler, 104 A.2d at 113.

In addition, preliminary objections raising issues under subsections (a)(1), (5), 

(6), (7) and (8) of Rule 1028 cannot ordinarily be determined from the facts on 
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record. Under Allegheny County Local Rule 1028(c), preliminary objections raising 

issues under 1028(a)(1), (5) and (6) must be titled “Preliminary Objections Raising 

Questions of Fact,” be endorsed with a notice to plead and shall not have a brief 

attached. If no notice to plead is endorsed, no response will be required under Rule 

1029(d). Pa. Indep. Oil & Gas Ass'n v. Pa. One Call Sys., 245 A.3d 362 (Pa.Commw. 

2021). Preliminary objections raising improper venue shall be titled “Preliminary 

Objections Raising Questions of Venue” also endorsed with a notice to plead. The 

parties may proceed with discovery, including depositions, regarding the issues of 

fact raised in preliminary objections raising questions of fact or venue. 

Preliminary objections are pleadings that must conform to Pennsylvania law 

and rules of court. Pa.R.Civ.P. 1017(a)(4), 1028(a)(2). Preliminary objections also 

must be sufficiently specific for a responding party to prepare a defense. Pa.R.Civ.P. 

1028(a)(3); Paz v. Department of Corrections, 580 A.2d 452, 456 (Pa.Commw. 

1990). The "proper method for challenging the propriety of a preliminary objection 

is by a preliminary objection to a preliminary objection." Chester Upland School 

District v. Yesavage, 653 A.2d 1319, 1325 n.8 (Pa.Commw. 1994). The standards 

for ruling on preliminary objections raising issues of fact are the same as set forth 

above. To sustain preliminary objections, it must appear with certainty that the law 

will not permit recovery, and any doubt should be resolved in favor of overruling 

the preliminary objections. Torres v. Beard, 997 A.2d 1242, 1245 (Pa.Commw. 
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2010). The court must accept as true all well-pleaded material allegations in the 

Complaint, as well as all inferences reasonably deducible therefrom. Id. 

The existence of an alternative dispute resolution, such as arbitration, may be 

raised either by preliminary objection or by petition to compel arbitration pursuant 

to the Uniform Arbitration Act, 42 Pa.Cons.Stat. §7304. 

The Commonwealth Court has written: 

Generally, the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure prohibit 
preliminary objections that raise affirmative defenses. Pa. R.C.P. No. 
1030(a) states that all affirmative defenses, including the statute of 
limitations, estoppel, and res judicata, "shall be pleaded in a responsive 
pleading under the heading 'New Matter.” The Official Note to Pa. 
R.C.P. No. 1028(a)(4) states that "the statute of limitations can be 
asserted only in a responsive pleading as new matter under [Pa. R.C.P. 
No.] 1030." Nevertheless, a court may address the merits of affirmative 
defenses at the preliminary objection stage under limited 
circumstances, when (1) the plaintiff fails to object or otherwise waives 
its right to object to the improper preliminary objections, and (2) where 
the affirmative defense was clearly applicable on the face of the 
complaint. Jacobs v. Merrymead Farm, Inc., 799 A.2d 980, 983 (Pa. 
Cmwlth. 2002) Commonwealth v. RBC Capital Mkts. Corp., 2021 Pa. 
Commw. Unpub. LEXIS 487, 264 A.3d 825, 2021 WL 4096634). 

While there are certain defenses which, pursuant to Rule 1030, must be raised 

by new matter, not as a preliminary objection, courts have permitted limited 

exceptions to this rule and have allowed parties to raise certain affirmative defenses 

as preliminary objections if the defense is clearly applicable on the face of the 

complaint. Cooper v. Downingtown School Dist., 357 A.2d 619, (Pa.Super. 1976); 

Sayers v. Heritage Valley Med. Grp., Inc., 2021 PA Super 42, 247 A.3d 1155; Estate 
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of McLeod v. Summy-Long, 175 A.3d 430, Pa. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 2907 (statute 

of limitations); Sweeney v. Merrymead Farm, Inc., 799 A.2d 972 (Pa.Commw. 

2002); Tiedeman v. Philadelphia, 732 A.2d 696 (Pa.Commw. 1997); Chester 

Upland School District v. Yesavage, 653 A.2d 1319 (Pa.Commw. 1994) (sovereign 

immunity); Dempsey v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 653 A.2d 679 (Pa.Super. 1995); Kelly 

v. Kelly, 2005 PA Super 394, 887 A.2d 788, 791 (res judicata); In re Marushak's 

Estate, 610, 413 A.2d 649, 651 (Pa. 1980) (laches); Callery v. Municipal Authority 

of Blythe, 243 A.2d 385 (Pa. 1968) (statute of limitations where plaintiff failed to 

file preliminary objections to defendant’s preliminary objections raising statute of 

limitations); McFadden v. 403 Gordon Drive, LLC, 2022 Pa. Super. Unpub. LEXIS 

525, 2022 WL 590783 (where defendant raised six-month time limit for filing 

mechanic’s lien claim – held not to be a “statute of limitations”); Reuben v. O'Brien, 

445 A.2d 801 (Pa.Super. 1982) (nonwaivable statute of limitations may be raised by 

preliminary objections); Peters Twp. Sanitary Auth. v. American Home & Land Dev. 

Co., 696 A.2d 899 (Pa.Commw. 1997) (nonwaivable statute of frauds of the Uniform 

Written Obligation Act, Act of April 26, 1855, P.L. 308, as amended, 33 P.S. § 3); 

Blumer v. Dorfman, 289 A.2d 463, 466-67 (Pa. 1972) (“The suretyship provision of 

the Statute of Frauds is a nonwaivable affirmative defense which may serve as the 

basis for a demurrer and a judgment on the pleadings.”); O'Brien v. O'Brien, 66 A.2d 

309 (Pa. 1949) (parol evidence rule may be raised by preliminary objection). 
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Detailed procedures for disposing of preliminary objections are set forth in 

Allegheny County Local Rule 1028(c). 

JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS STANDARD UNDER PA LAW 

Rule 1034, Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, states: 

(a) After the relevant pleadings are closed, but within such time as not to 
unreasonably delay the trial, any party may move for judgment on the 
pleadings.

(b) The court shall enter such judgment or order as shall be proper on the 
pleadings.  

A motion for judgment on the pleadings is similar to a demurrer. It may be 

entered when there are no disputed issues of fact and the moving party is entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law. Baumbach v. Lafayette Coll., 2022 Pa. Super. LEXIS 

102, 2022 PA Super 40, 2022 WL 628500 

A trial court must confine its consideration to the pleadings and relevant 

documents. The court must accept as true all well pleaded statements of fact, 

admissions, and any documents properly attached to the pleadings presented by the 

party against whom the motion is filed, considering only those facts which were 

specifically admitted. Judgment on the pleadings may be entered when the case turns 

exclusively on a question of law in favor of the appropriate party no matter who 

makes the actual motion. Chonez v. Long, 35 Del. Co. 353 (1947) 

As noted in Bensalem Township Sch. Dist. v. Commonwealth, 544 A.2d 1318 

(Pa. 1988): 
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A rule 1034 motion for judgment on the pleadings can be used as a 
motion to test whether such a cause of action as pleaded exists at law, and in 
that way "is in the nature of a demurrer." Bata v. Central Pennsylvania 
National Bank of Philadelphia, 423 Pa. 373, 378, 224 A.2d 174, 178 (1966). 
"It [the motion] is limited to the pleadings themselves and no factual material 
outside the pleadings may be considered." Goodrich Amram, 2d § 1035:1, p. 
423. The issue in such a case is not whether the facts support the action, but 
whether there is such an action under the law.  

Such a contention differs from a Rule 1035 motion. Rule 1035 "is 
designed to supplement the motion for judgment on the pleadings to provide 
for an equivalent summary disposition of the case where the pleadings may 
be sufficient, on their face, to withstand a demurrer but where, in actuality, 
there is no genuine issue of fact and this can be conclusively shown through 
depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions or affidavits." Id. § 
1035(a) 

If, under Rule 1034, a court holds that a cause of action is absolutely 
barred it does not matter that the court enter judgment in favor of the non-
moving party because there is simply no such action and the matter ends. "It 
would be irrational to deny judgment on the pleadings to a party rightly 
entitled thereto simply because he happened not to be the party who made the 
motion." Boron, supra, 380 Pa. at 102, 110 A.2d at 171.  

A motion for summary judgment under Rule 1035 is radically different 
because the issue is whether the moving party has established, by virtue of a 
developed pretrial record, the cause of action or defense he has pleaded; or, 
alternatively, whether there is a genuine issue of fact for decision. The motion, 
however, does not concede that the adversary's case can be proved; and 
because the movant does not concede the converse facts a non-movant has 
received no benefit and is not entitled to a judgment under the plaintiff's 
motion. Therefore, in a motion for summary judgment only the moving party 
can prevail, because if he fails, a dispute continues on the facts themselves. 

The procedures for disposing on motions for judgment on the pleadings are set forth 

in Allegheny County Local Rule 1034(a). 



Seeley ex rel. Shepard v. Derr, Not Reported in F.Supp.2d (2013)

 © 2022 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

2013 WL 3776424 
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available. 

United States District Court, 
M.D. Pennsylvania. 

Miranda SEELEY, a Minor, by Her Natural 
Guardian, Susan SHEPARD, Plaintiff, 

v. 
Mara DERR and Carl Libby, Defendants. 

Civil No. 4:12–CV–917. 
| 

July 17, 2013. 

Attorneys and Law Firms 

Leo M. Flynn, Nicholas S. Jajko, Edward J. Gilson, 
Martins Mill Legal Center LLC, Philadelphia, PA, for 
Plaintiff. 

Michael B. Smith, Hummel & Lewis, LLP, Bloomsburg, 
PA, for Defendants. 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

MARTIN C. CARLSON, United States Magistrate Judge. 

I. Statement of Facts and of the Case 
*1 This diversity case, which comes before us for 
consideration of a motion for summary judgment, calls 
upon us to interpret and apply Pennsylvania’s law 
regarding the reach of landlord liability for injuries 
allegedly caused by a tenant’s pet to a third party. In this 
case, finding that the requisites for landlord third-party 
liability under Pennsylvania law are not met as a matter of 
law, we will grant the summary judgment motion filed by 
defendant Carl Libby. 

The pertinent facts can be simply stated: In 2002, five 
year-old Miranda Seeley and her father, Edward Seeley, 
resided with Mara Derr and her family in a rented duplex 

at 448 Orange Street, Northumberland, Pennsylvania. At 
the time, Derr’s landlord was the defendant, Carl Libby. 
Also residing at the duplex with Derr, her family, and the 
Seeleys were two dogs-Bandit and Cinnamon. It is the 
propensities of these two dogs, and Carl Libby’s 
knowledge of the propensities of these dogs, that lies at 
the heart of this case against Derr’s landlord, Libby. 

With respect to this issue, the parties have identified three 
incidents which occurred prior to the July 2003 dog bite 
episode that led to this lawsuit. First, at some time prior to 
this episode, Libby observed Derr’s dog, Cinnamon, 
escaped from the back porch of 448 Orange Street and run 
down an alleyway. Following this incident Libby testified 
that he instructed Derr to keep her dog tied upon or inside 
the residence. (Doc. 28–2, pp. 16–17.) 

In addition, the evidence identified two other incidents 
involving one of Derr’s dogs, an episode in which a dog 
chased a child on a bicycle, and a separate instance in 
which one of Derr’s dogs got into an altercation with a 
neighbor’s dog. (Id., pp. 23, 4.) Libby did not directly 
witness either of these incidents, but in both instances the 
undisputed evidence indicates that it was reported to 
Libby that the dog involved in the incidents was Derr’s 
dog, Cinnamon. (Id.) Based upon these reports, Libby 
once again admonished Derr to maintain control over 
Cinnamon. (Id.) Thus, while Seeley contends that Mara 
Derr’s other canine, Bandit, was in fact involved in these 
prior episodes, it is undisputed that all that was ever 
reported to Libby was that Derr’s dog, Cinnamon, was the 
aggressor in these instances. (Id.) Indeed, Edward Seeley 
candidly admitted that he had no information which 
would indicate that Libby had any prior actual knowledge 
of dangerous propensities on the part of Derr’s dog, 
Bandit. (Doc. 22–2, p. 19.) Moreover, the uncontested 
evidence from Libby, Derr, and a neighbor, was that it 
was reported to Libby that Derr’s other canine, 
Cinnamon, was the sole dog involved in these prior 
aggressive incidents. (Id.) 

It is against this factual background that an episode 
occurred on July 9, 2003, in which Derr’s dog, Bandit, is 
alleged to have mauled and severely injured Miranda 
Seeley. On December 1, 2011, some 7½ years after this 
incident1, Seeley, acting on behalf of his daughter, filed 
this action in the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Pennsylvania. (Doc. 1.) This action 
was subsequently transferred to the United States District 
Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania, and 
assigned to the undersigned. Defendant Libby, Derr’s 
landlord, has now moved for summary judgment, arguing 
that the undisputed evidence fails to establish landlord 
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liability in this particular setting because it failed to show 
actual knowledge by Libby of dangerousness by the 
particular dog responsible for this incident, Bandit. (Doc. 
22.) This motion is fully briefed by the parties, and is, 
therefore, ripe for resolution. 

*2 For the reasons set forth below, the summary judgment 
motion will be granted. 

II. Discussion 

B. Rule 56–The Legal Standard 
The defendants have moved for summary judgment 
pursuant to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, which provides that “[t]he court shall grant 
summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no 
genuine issue as to any material fact and that the movant 
is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed.R.Civ.P., 
Rule 56(a). Through summary adjudication a court is 
empowered to dispose of those claims that do not present 
a “genuine issue as to any material fact,” Fed.R.Civ.P. 56, 
and for which a trial would be “an empty and unnecessary 
formality.” Univac Dental Co. v. Dentsply Int’l, Inc., No. 
07–0493, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31615, at *4 (M.D.Pa. 
Mar. 31, 2010). 

The substantive law identifies which facts are material, 
and “[o]nly disputes over facts that might affect the 
outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly 

preclude the entry of summary judgment.” Anderson 
v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 
91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). A dispute about a material fact is 
genuine only if there is a sufficient evidentiary basis that 
would allow a reasonable fact finder to return a verdict for 

the non-moving party. Id. at 248–49.

The moving party has the initial burden of identifying 
evidence that it believes shows an absence of a genuine 

issue of material fact. Conoshenti v. Pub. Serv. Elec. 
& Gas Co., 364 F.3d 135, 145–46 (3d Cir.2004). Once the 
moving party has shown that there is an absence of 
evidence to support the nonmoving party’s claims, “the 
nonmoving party must rebut the motion with facts in the 
record and cannot rest solely on assertions made in the 
pleadings, legal memoranda, or oral argument.” 

Berckeley Inv. Group. Ltd. v. Colkitt, 455 F.3d 195, 

201 (3d Cir.2006); accord Celotex Corp. v. Catrett,
477 U.S. 317, 324, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 

(1986). If the nonmoving party “fails to make a showing 
sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential 
to that party’s case, and on which that party will bear the 
burden at trial,” summary judgment is appropriate. 

Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322. Summary judgment is also 
appropriate if the non-moving party provides merely 
colorable, conclusory, or speculative evidence. 

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249. There must be more than a 
scintilla of evidence supporting the nonmoving party and 
more than some metaphysical doubt as to the material 

facts. Id. at 252; see also Matsushita Elec. Indus. 
Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S.Ct. 
1348, 89 L.Ed.2d 538 (1986). In making this 
determination, the court must “consider all evidence in 
the light most favorable to the party opposing the 

motion.” A.W. v. Jersey City Pub. Schs., 486 F.3d 791, 
794 (3d Cir.2007). 

Moreover, a party who seeks to resist a summary 
judgment motion by citing to disputed material issues of 
fact must show by competent evidence that such factual 
disputes exist. Further, “only evidence which is 
admissible at trial may be considered in ruling on a 
motion for summary judgment.” Countryside Oil Co., Inc. 
v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F.Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J.1995). 
Similarly, it is well-settled that: “[o]ne cannot create an 
issue of fact merely by ... denying averments ... without 
producing any supporting evidence of the denials.” 
Thimons v. PNC Bank, NA, 254 F. App’x 896, 899 (3d 
Cir.2007) (citation omitted). Thus, “[w]hen a motion for 
summary judgment is made and supported ..., an adverse 
party may not rest upon mere allegations or denial.” 
Fireman’s Ins. Co. of Newark NJ v. DuFresne, 676 F.2d 
965, 968 (3d Cir.1982), see Sunshine Books, Ltd. v. 
Temple Univ., 697 F.2d 90, 96 (3d Cir.1982). “[A] mere 
denial is insufficient to raise a disputed issue of fact, and 
an unsubstantiated doubt as to the veracity of the 

opposing affidavit is also not sufficient.” Lockhart v. 
Hoenstine, 411 F.2d 455, 458 (3d Cir.1969). Furthermore, 
“a party resisting a [Rule 56] motion cannot expect to rely 
merely upon bare assertions, conclusory allegations or 

suspicions.” Gans v. Mundy, 762 F.2d 338, 341 (3d 

Cir.1985) (citing Ness v. Marshall, 660 F.2d 517, 519 
(3d Cir.1981)). In particular, a plaintiff cannot avoid 
summary judgment by simply relying upon a 
self-declaration that he has authored which relies not on 
evidence, but on the plaintiff’s own interpretation of 

events and, essentially, opinion testimony. See Lujan 
v. Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871, 888, 110 S.Ct. 
3177, 111 L.Ed.2d 695 (1990) (the nonmoving party may 
not defeat a properly supported summary judgment 
motion by simply substituting the “conclusory allegations 
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of the complaint or answer with the conclusory 
allegations of an affidavit.”); Iseley v. Beard, No. 
02–2006, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52014, *32, 2010 WL 
1329995 (M.D.Pa. Mar. 30, 2010) (conclusory allegations 
contradicted by documentary evidence cannot be accepted 
as true). Yet, while “only evidence which is admissible at 
trial may be considered in ruling on a motion for 
summary judgment,” Countryside Oil Co., Inc. v. 
Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F.Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J.1995), 
and “a party resisting a [Rule 56] motion cannot expect to 
rely merely upon bare assertions, conclusory allegations 

or suspicions,” Gans v. Mundy, 762 F.2d 338, 341 (3d 
Cir.1985), the court must “consider all evidence in the 
light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.” 

A.W. v. Jersey City Pub. Schs., 486 F.3d 791, 794 (3d 
Cir.2007). 

*3 There is one other aspect to this standard of review 
which warrants brief comment. In this case, the plaintiff 
relies upon a rule of state practice, the so-called 
Nanty–Glo rule, to argue that summary judgment may not 
be entered on behalf of defendant Libby because the 
undisputed evidence relating to his lack of knowledge 
regarding the canine, Bandit’s, dangerous propensities is 
derived from witness statements.2 Arguing that in state 
practice the Nanty–Glo rule would forbid summary 
judgment based on these undisputed witness statements, 
Seeley contends that this court is also precluded from 
considering summary judgment in favor of Libby, even if 
there is no dispute as to any material facts among the 
witnesses, simply because witness statements must 
always be submitted to a jury for a credibility 
determination. 

Whatever effect the Nanty–Glo rule may have on state 
practice, reliance on this rule is misplaced in the instant 
federal case, as courts in this circuit have consistently 
found that this state-law procedural rule has no 
application to motions for summary judgment in federal 

court. See, e.g., Schmitt v. State Farm Ins. Co., Civ. A. 
No. 09–1517, 2011 WL 4368400, at *13 (W.D.Pa. 
Aug.12, 2011) (“Nanty–Glo is inapplicable to summary 
judgment motions in federal court.”); NGM Ins. Co. v. 
Stoltzfus Const., LLC, Civ. A. No. 09–CV–01717, 2011 

WL 397667, at *5 (M.D.Pa. Jan.10, 2011); Tarlecki v. 
Mercy Fitzgerald Hosp., Civ. A. No. 01–1347, 2002 WL 
1565568, at *1 n. 1 (E.D.Pa. July 15, 2002). Indeed, it is 
well-settled that the court may rely upon testimonial 
evidence in reaching a decision on a summary judgment 

motion. See Waskovich v. Morgano, 2 F.3d 1292 (3d 
Cir.1993). Moreover, Rule 56 plainly contemplates the 
sue of testimonial evidence in support of a summary 
judgment motion. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c). Therefore, in 

resolving this motion we can, and must, consider what the 
undisputed testimonial evidence shows. 

B. Landlord Liability Principles in Dog Bite Cases 
As a federal court exercising diversity jurisdiction in this 
case, we are obliged to apply the substantive law of 

Pennsylvania to this dispute. Chamberlain v. 
Giampapa, 210 F.3d 154, 158 (3d. Cir.2000). Under 
Pennsylvania law, several guiding principles define the 
liability of landlords for injuries suffered by third parties 
as a result of dog bites received from canines belonging to 
a tenant of the landlord. Typically: 

In order to establish a cause of 
action in negligence against a 
landlord for injuries caused by his 
tenant’s dog, it must be proven that 
the landlord owed a duty of care, 
that he breached that duty, and that 
the injuries were proximately 

caused by the breach. Martin v. 
Evans, 551 Pa. 496, 711 A.2d 458 
(1998). A landlord out of 
possession is not liable for attacks 
by animals kept by his tenant on 
leased premises where the tenant 
has exclusive control over the 
premises. However, a duty to use 
reasonable care will attach to 
prevent such injuries if the landlord 
has knowledge of a dangerous 
animal on the rented premises and 
if the landlord enjoyed the right to 
control or remove the animal by 

retaking the premises. Palermo 
v. Nails, 334 Pa.Super. 544, 483 
A.2d 871 (1984). 

*4 Rosenberry v. Evans, 48 A.3d 1255, 1258 
(Pa.Super.Ct.2012). However, “[a]ctual knowledge of a 
dog’s dangerous propensities is required before a duty is 
imposed upon a landlord to protect against or remove an 

animal housed on rental property.” Id. at 1259. It is 
plainly insufficient under Pennsylvania law to assert that a 
landlord simply should have known of an animal’s 
dangerous propensities. Instead, “[p]ursuant to 
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Pennsylvania law ..., a landlord may be held liable for 
injuries caused by a tenant’s pet [only] if it is proven he or 
she knows of the presence of that pet and that pet’s violent 
propensities. See also, e.g., Andrews v. DeStefano, 71 Pa. 
D. & C. 4th 497 (Com.Pl.2005); Dick v. Detwiler, 7 Pa. 
D. & C. 4th 629 (Com.Pl.1990).” Underwood ex rel. 
Underwood v. Wind,, 954 A.2d 1199, 1208–09 
(Pa.Super.Ct.2008) (emphasis in original). 

Another principle emerges from Pennsylvania case law in 
this field. By eschewing liability based upon a claim that 
a landlord should have known of an animal’s propensities, 
and instead insisting that liability exists only when the 
landlord has actual knowledge of a canine’s past conduct, 
Pennsylvania courts appear to engage in a canine-specific 
inquiry, one which examines the landlord’s knowledge of 
the propensities of the particular dog whose actions are at 
issue. As Pennsylvania’s Superior Court has observed: “a 
landlord may be held liable for injuries caused by a 
tenant’s pet [only] if it is proven he or she knows of the 
presence of that pet and that pet’s violent propensities.” 
Underwood ex rel. Underwood v. Wind,, 954 A.2d 1199, 
1208–09 (Pa.Super.Ct.2008) (emphasis added in part). In 
short, Pennsylvania law does not appear to endorse any 
sort of transitive property of landlord liability in this 
particular arena, where knowledge of the habits of one 
tenant’s pet may be imputed to another pet for liability 
purposes. Thus, where proof is lacking of actual 
knowledge on a landlord’s part that a particular animal is 
dangerous, there is no liability and the landlord is entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law. Rosenberry v. Evans,
48 A.3d 1255, 1258 (Pa.Super.Ct.2012); Andrews v. 
DeStefano, 71 Pa. D. & C. 4th 497 (Com.Pl.2005). 

C. The Plaintiff Has Not Shown That Defendant 
Libby Had Actual Knowledge of Bandit’s Propensities 
Prior to July 8, 2003 

Judged against these benchmarks, defendant Libby, 
Derr’s landlord, is entitled to summary judgment in his 
favor since the undisputed evidence shows that Libby had 
never received notice of any dangerous propensities on 
the part of Bandit, the dog involved in the July 9, 2003, 
mauling incident, prior to that incident. While Seeley and 
Derr contest whether Bandit had, in fact, exhibited 

aggressive behavior prior to July 8, a factual dispute 
between these two parties which would preclude 
summary judgment on Seeley’s claims against Derr,3 the 
undisputed evidence shows that Libby was only informed 
of incidents involving another canine, Cinnamon. In fact, 
Seeley candidly admitted that he had no information 
which would indicate that Libby had any prior actual 
knowledge of dangerous propensities on the part of Derr’s 
dog, Bandit. (Doc. 22–2, p. 19.) Since Pennsylvania law 
would not permit liability based solely upon a claim that 
the landlord, Libby, should have known of Bandit’s 
dangerousness, Underwood ex rel. Underwood v. Wind,,
954 A.2d 1199, 1208–09 (Pa.Super.Ct.2008), and instead 
requires proof that “he or she knows of the presence of 
that pet and that pet’s violent propensities.” Underwood 
ex rel. Underwood v. Wind,, 954 A.2d 1199, 1208–09 
(Pa.Super.Ct.2008) (emphasis added), the complete 
paucity of evidence that Libby had received prior notice 
that the offending dog, Bandit, was dangerous is fatal to 
any claim against the landlord under Pennsylvania law, 

Rosenberry v. Evans, 48 A.3d 1255, 1258 
(Pa.Super.Ct.2012); Andrews v. DeStefano, 71 Pa. D. & 
C. 4th 497 (Com.Pl.2005), and compels entry of judgment 
in favor of defendant Libby. 

*5 An appropriate order follows. 

III. Order 
Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, the motion for 
summary judgment in favor of the defendant, Carl Libby 
(Doc. 22.) is GRANTED. In light of this ruling, Libby’s 
motions in limine, (Docs. 31 and 32.) are dismissed as 
moot. On or before August 6, 2013, the plaintiff shall 
notify the court how she wishes to proceed with respect to 
defendant Derr, who has been served but has not yet 
responded in this lawsuit. 

All Citations 

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2013 WL 3776424 

Footnotes

1
The parties have not separately addressed the application of the statute of limitations to these claims, 42 Pa.C.S 
§§ 5524–31, and, therefore, neither do we. 
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2
The so-called Nanty–Glo rule that the plaintiffs assert is derived from Borough of Nanty–Glo v. Am. Surety Co.,
309 Pa. 236, 163 A. 523 (Pa.1932). 

3 We note that Seeley served Derr on March 2, 2012, (Doc. 5.), and Derr participated in these proceedings in a limited 
way by submitting an affidavit in support of Libby’s summary judgment motion, but Derr has not otherwise 
answered or responded to the complaint. We leave for another day whether the entry of a default judgment against 
Derr would be appropriate at this juncture. 

End of Document © 2022 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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MAGISTRATE JUDGE’S REPORT AND 
RECOMMENDATION 

LISA PUPO LENIHAN, United States Chief Magistrate 
Judge. 

I. RECOMMENDATION 
*1 It is respectfully recommended that the Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment (ECF No. 23) filed by 
Defendant, State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, be 
granted. 

II. REPORT 
Plaintiffs, Erin D. Schmitt (“Plaintiff” or “Mrs. Schmitt”) 

and Jeffrey C. Schmitt, instituted this action against their 
homeowner’s insurance carrier, State Farm Fire and 
Casualty Company (“State Farm”) for breach of contract 

and bad faith pursuant to 42 Pa. Cons.Stat. § 8371. 
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(a), 1441(b). Venue 

in this District is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). 

One issue is presented in the pending partial summary 
judgment motion: whether State Farm acted in bad faith 
towards Plaintiffs by refusing and continuing to refuse to 
pay Plaintiffs’ entire claim under the insurance policy. 
Because the Court finds that no material issues of fact 
exist, and Defendant State farm is entitled to judgment as 
a matter of law, the Court recommends that State Farm’s 
Motion for Summary Judgment be granted. 

A. Factual History 
The material facts are not disputed. This is an insurance 
coverage case in which Plaintiffs allege breach of contract 

and bad faith under 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 8371. (See Compl. 
generally, ECF No. 1, Attach. # 2, Ex. A.) On June 8, 
2008, Plaintiff, Erin Schmitt, discovered a water leak 
from a broken water pressure gauge in the finished 
basement of the Plaintiffs’ home. (Compl. ¶¶ 8–9; see 
also E. Schmitt Dep., pp. 42–5, Sep. 23, 2010, ECF No. 
26–1.) At the time of this leak, the Schmitts maintained a 
homeowner’s insurance policy, policy no. 38–0390832–9, 
issued by State Farm (“the Policy”). (Compl.¶¶ 6–7.) 

On the evening immediately after discovering the loss, 
believing that the Shaler Water Authority was responsible 
for the loss, Mrs. Schmitt telephoned the Shaler Water 
Authority. (E. Schmitt Dep. 57:10–23.) While waiting for 
the Water Authority’s employee to arrive, Mrs. Schmitt, 
her sons, brother-in-law, and neighbors immediately 
began to attempt to salvage the Schmitt’s personal 
property which had been on the floor and/or which had 
gotten wet by moving it off of the floor. The Schmitts also 
began using fans and dehumidifiers, opened their 
windows, and ran their air conditioner in an attempt to dry 
the carpet. (E. Schmitt Dep. 58–61, 71–73.) Jeffrey 
Schmitt also attempted to dry the carpet by using a wet 
vac. (E. Schmitt Dep. 74–77.) The Schmitts also 
laundered some items and separated and laid out wet 
items in front of fans to attempt to dry them. (E. Schmitt 
Dep. 58–61, 71–73.) 
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On June 10, 2008, Mrs. Schmitt called her insurance 
agent, John Rinker, regarding the water leak. (Compl. ¶ 
14; E. Schmitt Dep. 78:3–12.) Mrs. Schmitt made several 
telephone calls to her State Farm Insurance Agent 
requesting that a State Farm claims adjuster come to 
inspect the damage to her property. (E. Schmitt Dep. 
83–85, 93.) On June 18, 2008, after these phone calls, 
State Farm claim representative Jon Forgrave met with 
the Plaintiffs and inspected their property. (Compl. ¶¶ 
19–20; Forgrave Aff. ¶ 5, ECF No. 26–3.) Mr. Forgrave 
also provided Plaintiff with a limited number of inventory 
forms upon which he instructed Mrs. Schmitt to record 
the personal property which had been damaged. (E. 
Schmitt Dep. 83–85, 93.) 

*2 On Thursday, June 19, 2008, Mark Bougher and Neal 
Martel of ServPro (collectively “Serv Pro”) arrived at the 
Schmitt’s residence to assist Plaintiffs with mitigation and 
restoration services. (Compl. ¶ 23; E. Schmitt Dep. 97–8.) 
As part of the mitigation services, and in addition to fans 
and dehumidifiers already in use by the Schmitts, ServPro 
provided equipment which included dehumidifiers and 
fans. (E. Schmitt Dep. 58–61, 71–73, 98; Compl. ¶ 28.) 
ServPro also removed damaged property from the 
Schmitts’ home. (Compl. ¶ 23; E. Schmitt Dep. 99–100.) 

ServPro initially discarded this property in a dumpster 
that it delivered to, and later removed from, the Schmitt 
residence. (E. Schmitt Dep. 100, 106.) ServPro also 
moved items into the garage as salvageable but later 
admitted in their statement that some of those items were 
not salvageable, such as a dresser, computer, and TV. 
(See Martel and Bougher Statement at p. 14, ECF No. 
27–3, Exhibit 5.) Most of the items removed to the garage 
were subsequently discarded by ServPro. Additionally, 
numerous items were placed in a ServPro van with the 
understanding that ServPro would later discard these 
items. (E. Schmitt Dep. 99–110.) 

For the most part, while Serv Pro discarded the damaged 
property in June 2008, Mrs. Schmitt sat in her garage, 
which was connected to the basement. (E. Schmitt Dep. 
100.) Serv Pro would show Mrs. Schmitt what they were 
discarding on their way to the dumpster. (Id.) However, 
Mrs. Schmitt was not present the entire time Serv Pro was 
at her residence, and there were several items which she 
was not shown prior to disposal. (Martel and Bougher 
Statement at p. 26, ECF No. 27–3, Exhibit 6; E. Schmitt 
Dep. 130, 191.) For example, Mrs. Schmitt testified that 
no one showed her anything that had been in the 
entertainment center being discarded, including the DVDs 
and CDs. (E. Schmitt Dep. 130–133, 190–193.) When 
shown what was being discarded, Mrs. Schmitt would 
record “to the best of [her] ability” a description of the 

items on a legal pad. (E. Schmitt Dep. 101, 126–29.) 
Regarding the accuracy of this recording process, Mrs. 
Schmitt has testified: 

And I believe unless I missed 
things when I took a bathroom 
break or something, I was very 
accurate because they [ServPro] 
actually stopped and showed me, 
and I would actually check, “Oh, 
that’s that,” a Vera Wang sheet or 
whatever I bought or whatever. 

(E. Schmitt Dep. 102.) 

On the days that ServPro was performing these services, 
as well as on the day that she discovered the water leak, 
Mrs. Schmitt needed to use crutches due to an ankle 
injury sustained in February 2008. (E. Schmitt Dep. 20, 
45–6, 100.) 

There was no water damage in the laundry room, and 
Mrs. Schmitt testified that Plaintiffs have not claimed any 
personal property damage in the laundry room. (E. 
Schmitt Dep. 68.) However, Mr. Martel stated that there 
were clothing items in the laundry room that had been in 
the basement, and Mrs. Schmitt testified that she had 
attempted to wash some of the clothing prior to the date 
ServPro came. (Martel and Bougher Statement at 17, ECF 
No. 27–3, Exhibit 11; E. Schmitt Dep. 116.) 

Plaintiff’s Damages Claims 

*3 On July 25, 2008, State Farm received from the 
Schmitts a 13–page Personal Property Inventory (“PPI”) 
worksheet, dated July 21, 2008 (“July 21st PPI 
worksheets”), that claimed personal property or contents 
damage in the amount of $37,979.61. (Romano Aff. ¶ 3, 
ECF No. 27–1; see also Romano Aff. Attach A.) Erin 
Schmitt testified that this PPI worksheet was not complete 
and that she informed State Farm claims representative 
Sheryl Zidek of this fact prior to its submission. Mrs. 
Schmitt testified that she was told by Ms. Zidek to submit 
the form in its current state to begin the process. (E. 
Schmitt Dep. 110.) State Farm determined that, 
considering depreciation, the actual cash value (“ACV”) 
for personal property included on the July 21st PPI 
worksheets equaled $23,721.54, which was adjusted to 
$24,682.91.1 (Contents Inventory Summary, Romano Aff. 
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Attach. B; Compl. ¶ 62.) During the time that the 
Schmitts’ contents claim was being reviewed, State Farm 
advanced $3,000.00 to the Schmitts. (Romano Aff. ¶ 4; E. 
Schmitt Dep. 168:2–6; Compl. ¶ 8.) 

In connection with her review of the contents claim, on 
August 22, 2008, Ms. Zidek sent to the Schmitts a letter 
that, in part, requested additional information and stated: 
“We also need you to document the amount of items 
purchased in 2007 and 2008. The amount of items you 
purchased in these years is substantially higher than your 
normal spending pattern.” (Zidek Aff. ¶ 11, ECF No. 
27–2; see also Zidek Aff. Attach. A.) Prior to sending the 
August 22, 2008 letter, Ms. Zidek was informed by Mrs. 
Schmitt by telephone on August 19, 2008 that the increase 
in the Schmitts spending was due to the fact that they no 
longer had a mortgage payment or private school 
payments for their sons and that their income was 
approximately $5,000 after taxes per month. Ms. Zidek 
informed Mrs. Schmitt that she could provide State Farm 
with documentation of their income, in particular, their 
tax return, to explain this increase, in lieu of receipts. 
(State Farm Activity Log, p. 29 at 08–19–08 1:19 PM, 
ECF 30–1, Exhibit 13.) Mrs. Schmitt provided State Farm 
with the requested documentation regarding the Schmitts’ 
income on September 9, 2008 during a meeting with Mr. 
David Truxal and Mr. Vincent Romano. (State Farm 
Activity Log, p. 24 at 09–10–08 12:28 PM, ECF No. 
30–1, Exhibit 14.) Mrs. Schmitt also provided Ms. Zidek 
with documentation that the mortgage on their home had 
been satisfied prior to the August 22, 2008 letter being 
sent. (Wells Fargo letter dated 12/20/2007 and Mortgage 
Release, Satisfaction, and Discharge, ECF No. 30–1, 
Exhibit 15.) However, Mrs. Schmitt did not produce the 
receipts for their purchases in 2007 and 2008 since they 
were destroyed during the loss. (E. Schmitt Dep. 
193:22–24, 194.) 

On September 9, 2008, State Farm Claim Team Managers 
Vince Romano and David Truxal had a four-hour meeting 
with the Schmitts at their residence to discuss the claim. 
(Compl. ¶ 54; Romano Aff. ¶ 6.) During this meeting, 
Mrs. Schmitt discussed additional property losses (other 
than those items already claimed on the July 21st PPI 
worksheets) with Romano and Truxal. (E. Schmitt Dep. at 
214–231; Attach. C to Romano Aff.) Plaintiff had 
completed PPI worksheets dated September 5, 2008 for 
the additional property losses, which she provided to 
Romano and Truxal at the September 9th meeting. (E. 
Schmitt Dep. at 230–31.) With regard to the items 
claimed on the September 5, 2008 worksheets, Plaintiff 
showed Romano and Truxal photographs she had taken of 
the damaged property items. (E. Schmitt Dep. at 215, 
230.) According to Mrs. Schmitt, Romano and Truxal told 

her that her claim for the items on the September 5th PPI 
worksheets was approved. (E. Schmitt Dep. at 231.) 

*4 Also, at the September 9th meeting, Plaintiff discussed 
with Romano and Truxal other property losses not listed 
on either the July 21st or September 5th PPI worksheets. 
(E. Schmitt Dep. at 216–229.) After either examining the 
additional damaged property or viewing photographs 
showing the damage, Romano and Truxal advised Mrs. 
Schmitt to submit a claim for these items, which she did, 
subsequently, on PPI worksheets dated September 15, 
2008 and September 18, 2008. (E. Schmitt Dep. at 
214–15; Attach. C to Romano Aff.) The amount of the 
loss claimed on the September 15th and 18th PPI 
worksheets exceeded $10,000.00. (Romano Aff. ¶ 8; 
Attach. C to Romano Aff.) According to Mrs. Schmitt, 
Romano and Truxal advised her at the September 9th 
meeting that no further proof would be required for the 
items she was going to claim on the September 15th and 
18th PPI worksheets because they either observed the 
damaged property or viewed photographs of the damage 
(E. Schmitt Dep. at 214–15), and Jon Forgrave advised 
them that Neal of Serv Pro stated that almost everything 
was a loss (E. Schmitt Dep. at 214). Mr. Forgrave’s entry 
in the activity log indicates that he okayed the disposal of 
items that were “iffy as far as being salvageable.” (Pls.’ 
App., Ex. 23 (State Farm Activity Log, p. 36 at 06–20–08 
08:04 AM).) 

On September 10, 2008, State Farm mailed to the 
Schmitts a check in the amount of 
$21,682.91—representing $24.682.92 minus the 
$3,000.00 advance already paid, for the losses claimed on 
the July 21 PPI worksheets. (Romano Aff. ¶ 7; E. Schmitt 
Dep. 232:8–18; Compl. ¶ 61.) State Farm also issued 
payments in the amount of $8,193 for structural repairs. 
(Romano Aff. ¶ 7; Compl. ¶ 68.) 

On September 23, 2008, State Farm received Plaintiffs’ 
September 15th and 18th PPI worksheets.2 (Romano Aff. 
¶ 8; Attach. C to Romano Aff.) 

State Farm’s Pre–Investigation Claim Handling 

Regarding Plaintiffs’ claim, State Farm communicated 
primarily with Mrs. Schmitt because Mr. Schmitt suffers 
from a “progressive neurological syndrome.” (E. Schmitt 
Dep. 18–22.) Initially, Plaintiffs’ claim was assigned to 
State Farm claim representative, Mr. Lancaster. (Exhibit 
20 at 06–11–08 10:14 AM.) The claim was then 
reassigned to Jon Forgrave, who met with the Plaintiffs 
and inspected their property on June 18, 2008. (Compl. ¶¶ 
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19–20; Forgrave Aff., ¶ 5.) 

In Mrs. Schmitt’s words, Mr. Forgrave and she ‘worked 
very well together at least at the beginning.” She also 
stated “he was very nice to me.” (E. Schmitt Dep. 
81:19–20, 295:4.) Nevertheless, Mrs. Schmitt asked that 
Mr. Forgrave be taken off her claim and wanted him 
replaced because, in her words, “I felt that we were not 
communicating well.” (E. Schmitt Dep. 159:6–17, 
166:17–20.) Regarding her communications with Jon 
Forgrave, Mrs. Schmitt stated: 

... I would actually call and say, “I don’t know how to 
fill this out. Can you please just answer how to do this 
and just leave it on my machine.” 

*5 But what Jon would do is say, “Erin, it’s Jon 
Forgrave [sic] calling. Here’s my number. Give me a 
call.” 

So maybe it was generational. I didn’t want to keep 
bothering him calling him. I just wanted an answer, and 
I was getting frustrated; it is true. 

* * * 

I think it was almost like he thought I was his mother. 

(E. Schmitt Dep. 156:17–157:3, 159:16–7.) 

In response to Mrs. Schmitt’s complaints to State Farm’s 
management about Mr. Forgrave, Claim Team Manager 
Vince Romano became more involved in reviewing the 
handling of her claim. (Romano Aff., ¶ 2.) In addition, 
State Farm assigned the Schmitts’ claim to Sheryl Zidek. 
(E. Schmitt Dep. 159–60.) On July 10, 2008, Ms. Zidek 
met with Mrs. Schmitt and inspected her property. (Zidek 
Aff. ¶ 3.) Mrs. Schmitt described Ms. Zidek as “pleasant” 
and had no problems with her “at first.” (E. Schmitt Dep. 
160:7, 160:9–11.) According to Mrs. Schmitt, she became 
dissatisfied with Ms. Zidek’s handling of the claim 
because, one, Ms. Zidek promised to call her before going 
on vacation but did not, and two, Ms. Zidek wrote the 
letter dated August 22, 2008. (E. Schmitt Dep. 162:6–14; 
Zidek Aff. Attach A.) 

Because Mrs. Schmitt was upset and “p’d off” by the 
August 22nd letter, she called Vince Romano and advised 
him that she could not work with Ms. Zidek. (E. Schmitt 
dep., p. 185, lines 4–6, 12–21, p. 186, lines 3–12.) When 
Mrs. Schmitt made this call, she hoped that Mr. Romano 
would remove Ms. Zidek from the claim. (E. Schmitt 
Dep. 186:17–187:1.) Thereafter, Mrs. Schmitt interacted 
with State Farm representative, Ginger Ellwanger; 
according to Mrs. Schmitt, “Ginger and I didn’t meet, but 

we got along well on the phone.” (E. Schmitt Dep. 
199:16–7.) 

Mrs. Schmitt also met and had telephone communications 
with State Farm Claim Team Manager David Truxal. 
(Truxal Aff. ¶¶ 3, 9, 10.) Mrs. Schmitt met with Mr. 
Truxal and Mr. Romano on September 9, 2008, and 
described them as “very pleasant” during this meeting. (E. 
Schmitt Dep. 217.) Mrs. Schmitt also described most 
telephone conversations with Mr. Truxal as “very 
pleasant.” (E. Schmitt Dep. 200:2–6.) But Mrs. Schmitt 
felt that Mr. Truxal used a “harsh tone” in a message that 
he left on her answering machine; yet he was nevertheless 
“professional.” (E. Schmitt Dep. 200–01.) 

When asked how she was treated by Mr. Romano during 
her claim, Mrs. Schmitt testified: 

A. 98% of the time—99.9% of the time, wonderful. 

Q. And in that .1% of the time that he didn’t treat 
you wonderful, what were the problems? Why do 
you answer not 100% of the time? 

A. I think maybe it might have been just some 
confusion. You know, you can have 
miscommunications, and I just thought, you know, in 
my opinion I would’ve rather him ask me a question 
and we could’ve resolved it.... 

(E. Schmitt Dep. 259:11–23.) 

State Farm’s Investigation of Plaintiff’s Supplemental 
Submissions 

*6 On September 29, 2008, the Schmitts’ claim was 
assigned to State Farm’s Special Investigative Unit 
(“SIU”) for further investigation. (Knight Aff. ¶ 2, ECF 
No. 27–3.) According to Darrell Knight, an investigator 
for the SIU, the claim was assigned to SIU for the 
following reason: 

The claim was referred to SUI 
because this claim initially was 
reported as a minor water loss, for 
which State Farm originally paid 
$8,193.91 for Coverage A, and 
$24,682.91 for Contents. Then, the 
Schmitts submitted additional 
Contents Inventory forms with an 
additional value exceeding 
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$10,000. State Farm believed it was 
questionable whether the additional 
contents being claimed actually 
existed and/or, if they did exist, 
whether they were damaged. 

(Knight Aff. ¶ 2.) The Policy includes the following 
Condition: 

SECTION I AND II—CONDITIONS 

2. Concealment or Fraud. This policy is void as to 
you and any other insured, if you or any other 
insured under this policy has intentionally concealed 
or misrepresented any material fact or circumstance 
relating to this insurance whether before or after a 
loss. 

(The Policy at 19, ECF No. 27–4.) 

Mr. Knight prepared a “Preliminary Report,” dated 
October 3, 2008 which set forth a lengthy “Initial 
Analysis,” and includes the following excerpts: 

a. Upon review of this claim, I have noted 
similarities in Mrs. Schmitt’s activities following 
both the prior [May 2001] and current water loss 
claims. (Knight Aff. Attach. A at 4.) 

b. Mr. Forgrave documented a conversation with 
Neil of ServPro on June 20th suggesting that he 
approved throwing out some of the items and noted 
some of the items were being salvaged in the garage. 
He also noted that according to Neil, Mrs. Schmitt 
was creating an inventory of things as they were 
being thrown out. According to the notes, most of 
the items were being discarded except for a table and 
some other miscellaneous items being moved to the 
garage. (Id. at 5.) 

c. When Mrs. Zidek arrived on July 7, 2008, all of 
the damaged items had already been disposed. (Id. at 
6.) 

d. Mrs. Zidek spoke with Mrs. Schmitt on August 
19th to review the inventory forms submitted. Mrs. 
Zidek noted that according to the inventory forms, 
Mrs. Schmitt made about $15,000 worth of 
purchases since 2007.... 

e. Mrs. Zidek noted and questioned Mrs. Schmitt 
about the reported 9 pairs of sheets and a $350 
comforter set that was claimed on the inventory. 
Mrs. Schmitt reported that she was bringing these 

items down to be washed when she discovered the 
water on the floor. She claims to have set the items 
on a chair and forgot about them so they had a musty 
smell that would not come out in the wash. Mrs. 
Zidek asked Mrs. Schmitt why she was washing 9 
pairs of sheets and Mrs. Schmitt reported that she 
washes all of her sheets at the same time whether 
they had been used or not. (Id.) 

f. Mrs. Zidek questioned Mrs. Schmitt about the 
spending of $15,000 in one year on items stored in 
the basement.3 (Id.) 

*7 (See also Zidek Aff. ¶ 9.) As stated in his Preliminary 
Report, Mr. Knight had several concerns after reviewing 
the PPI forms, which concerns he identifies in his 
attached Affidavit and the Report. (Knight Aff. ¶ 5; see 
also Knight Aff. Attach. A at 8–9.) 

Mr. Knight also obtained recorded statements from Neil 
Martel and Mark Bougher, the owner and an employee of 
ServPro, respectively. (Knight Aff. ¶ 8, see also Knight 
Aff. Attach. B.) Parts of these statements are inconsistent 
with some of the assertions of Mrs. Schmitt. (Knight Aff., 
Attach. B.) Examples of these inconsistencies include: 

a. Mrs. Schmitt has averred that she relied on 
ServPro to determine what should have been 
discarded and what should have been salvaged. In 
contrast, Mr. Martel advised State Farm that he tried 
to talk Mrs. Schmitt out of discarding items that had 
little to no damage, but Mrs. Schmitt was very 
insistent that, if ServPro did not discard these items, 
she would throw the items out herself. 

b. Mr. Martel advised State farm that most of the 
items thrown out in the dumpster had not been 
damaged. He stated that they went through boxes, 
drawers, and plastic totes and discovered items that 
were not wet and did not have any damage. But Mrs. 
Schmitt was adamant that everything be discarded. 

c. Mr. Martel advised State Farm that he was amazed 
by the amount of clothing being claimed by the 
Schmitts. 

(Knight Aff. ¶¶ 11–15; Compl. ¶ 25.) Mrs. Schmitt never 
spoke to Darrell Knight. (E. Schmitt Dep. 161:5–7.) 

There were 146 individual items of clothing listed on the 
July 21st PPI worksheets, and an additional 51 individual 
items of clothing claimed on the September PPI 
worksheets. (Knight Aff. ¶ 5; Romano Aff. Attach. A and 
C.) Examples of items of clothing on the September PPI 
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worksheets include 22 Oxford men’s shirts ($60 each) and 
4 pairs of men’s boxers ($30 each). Two large hard 
coolers were also claimed. (Knight Aff. ¶ 5.) Plaintiff 
claims that these were discarded by ServPro with the 
authorization of Mr. Forgrave. (State Farm Activity Log, 
p. 36 at 06–20–08 08:04 AM, ECF No. 30–1, Exhibit 23.) 

The July 21st PPI worksheets listed these electronic 
items: 

35mm camera 

Lexmark printer 

IBM computer 

RCA VCR/DVD player 

RCA 13″ TV with Radio/CD/DVD player 

Symphonic 19″ TV 

26″ Panasonic TV 

Panasonic Stereo CD Player 

2 CD Players 

2 Shuffle iPods 

Singer sewing machine 

AT & T phone (with higher volume) 

The September PPI worksheets claim these additional 
electronics: 

External hard drive (3 months old) 

Digital camera (2 months old) 

2 Memory cards (2 months old) 

Weather emergency radio (4 months old) 

Sylvania DVR recorder 

Sony CD radio tape 

Sony portable video recorder 

Handheld DVD player 

“Heavy duty” paper shredder 

Cuisinart iron 

Black & Decker fryer with basket 

Magic Chef ice machine 

*8 (Knight Aff. ¶ 5.) However, statements of the ServPro 
employees indicate that 1) the external hard drive may 
have been there; 2) they recalled the handheld DVD 
player; 3) the Sylvania DVR Recorder could have ended 
up in the garage; and 4) they recalled the ice cream 
machine which could have been the Magic Chef ice 
machine referred to in the inventory. (Martel and Bougher 
Statement at 43, 45–6, ECF No. 27–3, Exhibit 24.) 

Mr. Knight’s report set forth the 
following “Investigator’s 
Recommendation”: Considering 
the similarities in the current and 
prior claim along with the 
expanding inventory forms 
submitted in September after all 
of the damaged items were 
reportedly disposed before July 
7, 2008 along with the report 
from ServPro that the insured 
was instructing them to throw 
away items that were not 
damaged, it has been decided 
that we should proceed with an 
examination under oath of Mr. 
and Mrs. Schmitt in order to 
gather additional information on 
this claim and to consider the 
additional contents inventory 
claim. 

(Knight Aff. Attach. A at 9.) 

State Farm requested that the Schmitts submit to an 
examination under oath (“EUO”) in a letter dated October 
2, 2008, the day before Mr. Knight completed his 
Preliminary Report in which he also concludes that a 
EUO is necessary. (Pellegrino Letter, ECF No. 30–1, 
Exhibit 30; Knight Aff. ¶ 6.) To assist with obtaining the 
EUOs, State Farm retained David Rosenberg, Esquire. 
(Knight Aff. ¶ 9.) From October 2008 through May 2009, 
Attorney Rosenberg attempted to schedule Mrs. Schmitt’s 
EUO. (Knight Aff. ¶¶ 18–21, see also Knight Aff. Attach. 
C; E. Schmitt Dep. 239, 241.) In response to Mr. 
Rosenberg’s attempts, Mrs. Schmitt asserted that she 
could not attend an EUO because she had a closed head 
injury and/or because she could not retain counsel. 
(Knight Aff. ¶¶ 18–19; E. Schmitt Dep. 239–242.) Mr. 
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Rosenberg, as counsel for State Farm, agreed to the delay 
in Mrs. Schmitt submitting to her EUO. (Knight Aff. 
Attach. C.) 

The Policy states: 

SECTION I—CONDITIONS 

2. Your Duties After Loss 

d. As often as we reasonably require: ... 

(2) Provide us with records and documents we 
request and permit us to make copies; 

(3) Submit to and subscribe, while not in the 
presence of any other insured: 

(a) statements; and 

(b) examinations under oath. 

(The Policy at 13.) 

Before EUOs could be scheduled, the Schmitts filed this 
lawsuit in June 2009, pursuant to the State Farm policy’s 
requirement that any suit relating to the insurance policy 
must be filed within one year of the occurrence. (See
Notice of Removal, ECF No 1, Attach. 1.) Discovery has 
now closed; Defendant has filed the instant Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment which has been fully briefed 
and responded to, and is ripe for disposition. 

B. Standard of Review 
Summary judgment is appropriate if, drawing all 
inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, “the 
pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and 
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, 
show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and 
the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” 
Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c). Summary judgment may be granted 
against a party who fails to adduce facts sufficient to 
establish the existence of any element essential to the 
party’s case, and for which that party will bear the burden 

of proof at trial. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 
317, 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). 

*9 More specifically, the moving party bears the initial 
burden of identifying evidence which demonstrates the 
absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Once that 
burden has been met, the nonmoving party must set forth 

“specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for 
trial” or the factual record will be taken as presented by 
the moving party and judgment will be entered as a matter 

of law. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith 
Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 89 
L.Ed.2d 538 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P 56(e)) 
(emphasis added). An issue is genuine only “if the 
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a 

verdict for the non-moving party.” Anderson v. Liberty 
Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 
L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). 

C. Discussion 
State Farm has moved for summary judgment on 
Plaintiffs’ statutory bad faith claim. In Pennsylvania, a 
private cause of action exists for bad faith conduct of 

insurers pursuant to 42 Pa. Cons.Stat. Ann. § 8371, 
which provides, in relevant part: 

In an action arising under an insurance policy, if the 
court finds that the insurer has acted in bad faith toward 
the insured, the court may take all of the following 
actions: 

(1) Award interest on the amount of the claim from the 
date the claim was made by the insured in an amount 
equal to the prime rate of interest plus 3%. 

(2) Award punitive damages against the insurer. 

(3) Assess court costs and attorney fees against the 
insurer. 

“Bad faith” is not defined in the statute, however, courts 

interpreting Pennsylvania law have held that a § 8371
claim contains two elements: (1) the insurer lacked a 
reasonable basis for denying benefits under the applicable 
policy, and (2) the insurer knew or recklessly disregarded 
the lack of a reasonable basis for refusing the claim. 

Employers Mut. Cas. Co. v. Loos, 476 F.Supp.2d 478, 

490 (W.D.Pa.2007) (citing Terletsky v. Prudential 
Prop., 437 Pa.Super. 108, 649 A.2d 680, 688 

(Pa.Super.Ct.1994)); see also Horowitz v. Fed. 
Kemper Life Assur. Co., 57 F.3d 300, 307–08 (3d 

Cir.1995) (citing D’Ambrosio v. Pa. Nat’l Mut. Cas. 
Ins. Co., 494 Pa. 501, 431 A.2d 966, 971 (Pa.1981)). The 
level of culpability required to prove bad faith is 
something more than mere negligent conduct which is 

harmful to the insured. Loos, 476 F.Supp.2d at 490
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(citing Brown v. Progressive Ins. Co., 860 A.2d 493, 
501 (Pa.Super.Ct.2004)). The superior court expounded 
on this point in O’Donnell ex rel. Mitro v. Allstate 
Insurance Co.: 

[O]ur Court has adopted the following definition of 
“bad faith” as applicable in the context of insurance: 

“Bad faith” on part of insurer is any frivolous or 
unfounded refusal to pay proceeds of a policy; it is 
not necessary that such refusal be fraudulent. For 
purposes of an action against an insurer for failure to 
pay a claim, such conduct imports a dishonest 
purpose and means a breach of a known duty (i.e., 
good faith and fair dealing), through some motive of 
self-interest or ill will; mere negligence or bad 
judgment is not bad faith. 

*10 734 A.2d 901, 905 (Pa.Super.Ct.1999) (citing 

Romano v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 435 
Pa.Super. 545, 646 A.2d 1228, 1232 (Pa. Super Ct.1994)
(quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 139 (6th ed.1990))) 
(other citation omitted). Considerations of “the motive or 
self-interest or ill will” of the insurer are not a third 
element of a bad faith claim, but rather, are probative of 
the second element enumerated in Terletsky, i.e., “the 
insurer knew or recklessly disregarded its lack of 

reasonable basis in denying the claim.” Loos, 476 

F.Supp.2d at 491 (quoting Terletsky, 649 A.2d at 688).

The standard of proof required to establish a statutory bad 
faith claim against an insurer under Pennsylvania law is 

clear and convincing evidence. Loos, 476 F.Supp.2d at 

491 (citing Terletsky, 649 A.2d at 688) (footnote 
omitted); Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Babayan, 430 F.3d 
121, 137 (3d Cir.2005) (citing Terletsky, supra ). “The 
‘clear and convincing’ standard requires that the plaintiff 
show ‘that the evidence is so clear, direct, weighty and 
convincing as to enable a clear conviction, without 
hesitation, about whether or not the defendants acted in 

bad faith.’ “ J.C. Penney Life Ins. Co. v. Pilosi, 393 

F.3d 356, 367 (3d Cir.2004) (quoting Bostick v. ITT 
Hartford Group, Inc., 56 F.Supp.2d 580, 587 
(E.D.Pa.1999)). Accordingly, State Farm’s summary 
judgment motion as to Plaintiffs’ bad faith claim must be 
evaluated with the clear and convincing evidence standard 

in mind. Loos, 476 F.Supp.2d at 492; Babayan, 430 
F.3d at 137 (noting that “the insured’s burden in opposing 
a summary judgment motion brought by the insurer is 
‘commensurately high because the court must view the 
evidence presented in light of the substantive evidentiary 

burden at trial.’ ”) (quoting Kosierowski v. Allstate 

Ins. Co., 51 F.Supp.2d 583, 588 (E.D.Pa.1999)). 

In the case at bar, the gravamen of Plaintiffs’ § 8371
bad faith claim is that State Farm engaged in bad faith 
conduct by treating the claim investigation process as an 
adversarial process and by treating Plaintiffs as 
adversaries rather than as policyholders. (Compl.¶ 89.) In 
addition, Plaintiffs contend that State Farm has acted in 
bad faith by its failure to conduct a fair and reasonable 
investigation of their claim, and by denying their claim 
due to lack of information and/or one-sided information. 
(Compl.¶¶ 92–93.) Furthermore, Plaintiffs advance the 
argument that State Farm acted in bad faith by ignoring 
evidence which supports coverage for their claim. 
(Compl.¶ 94.) 

State Farm seeks summary judgment on Plaintiffs’ bad 
faith claim on the grounds that Plaintiffs cannot establish 
by clear and convincing evidence that State Farm acted in 
bad faith since State Farm had a reasonable basis for 
investigating and withholding payment of Plaintiffs’ 
supplemental claim. In the event that this Court denies its 
Summary Judgment Motion, State Farm contends that 
there is no basis for an award of punitive damages. In 
response, Plaintiffs submit that there is evidence to 
support such a claim for bad faith, and that punitive 
damages are proper. 

*11 With respect to its first argument, State Farm submits 
that an insurer does not act in bad faith by investigating 
legitimate issues of coverage. In support, State Farm cites 
Hyde Athletic Industries, Inc. v. Continental Casualty Co.,
in which our sister court in the Eastern District held that 
the insurer had not acted in bad faith by investigating and 

subsequently denying Plaintiff’s claims. 969 F.Supp. 

289, 307 (E.D.Pa.1997). In concluding that the § 8371
bad faith claim should be denied, the district court opined: 

Every allegation of bad faith conduct relates to 
Defendants’ investigation and denial of Plaintiffs’ 
claims. While an insurance company has a duty to 
accord the interests of its insured the same 
consideration it gives its own interests, an insurer is not 
“bound to submerge its own interest in order that the 
insured’s interests may be made paramount,” 

Cowden v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co., 389 Pa. 459, 
134 A.2d 223, 228 (1957), and an insurer does not act 
in bad faith by investigating and litigating legitimate 
issues of coverage. 

Id. (footnote omitted). Similar to the case at bar, the 
plaintiffs in Hyde asked the court to send to a jury the 
claims of bad faith related to the insurers’ investigation of 
the plaintiffs’ claim. The district court in Hyde concluded 
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that “the crux of a bad faith claim under § 8371 is 
denial of coverage by an insurer when it has no good 

reason to do so.” Id. (citing Jung v. Nationwide Mut. 
Fire Ins. Co., 949 F.Supp. 353, 360 (E.D.Pa.1997)). In 
Hyde, as in the present case, the plaintiffs claimed bad 
faith prior to the entry of a decision, whether favorable or 
unfavorable, and in both cases, the claims were based not 
on bad faith nonpayment, but were related to the insurers’ 
investigation of the merit of plaintiffs’ claims. 

To the extent Plaintiffs’ bad faith claim is predicated upon 
State Farm’s failure to pay any amount on their 
supplemental claim without any reasonable basis, this 
Court notes that at the time Plaintiffs filed the Complaint, 
State Farm was undergoing active investigation of 
Plaintiffs’ supplemental claim, and had not yet 
determined whether it was going to accept or deny it. 
Nonetheless, Plaintiffs contend that State Farm has had 
more than adequate time to investigate the insurance 
claim at issue, and has failed to provide any credible 
reason for denial of Plaintiffs’ insurance claim. As 
explained below, Plaintiffs’ argument lacks merit. 

The Pennsylvania Superior Court considered this precise 
argument in O’Donnell, and determined that the 
defendant insurance company’s failure to accept or deny a 
claim after conducting a lengthy investigation prior to the 
commencement of the suit was not evidence of bad faith 

on the part of the insurance company. 734 A.2d at 
907. In reaching this conclusion, the superior court noted 
the existence of many “red flags,” as identified and 
explained by defendant insurance company’s expert, and 
which arose before litigation was commenced. Id. Such 
“red flags” included unexpectedly high dollar values in 
estimated losses. Id. at 907 n. 7. Similarly here, Mr. 
Knight’s preliminary report notes several red flags in his 
investigation of Plaintiffs’ supplement claim. 

*12 In further support of its argument, State Farm submits 
that given the extensive personal property damages 
already submitted in the July 21st PPI worksheets and the 
amount already paid for those items, it was concerned that 
the Schmitts’ submission of the September PPI 
worksheets constituted a material misrepresentation 
regarding their loss. Pursuant to the express terms of the 
Policy, a material misrepresentation of a fact or 
circumstance would void the Policy, and because of that, 
State Farm contends it had a legitimate interest in 
determining whether the Schmitts actually suffered the 
loss claimed. In addition, State Farm submits that its 
decision to request EUOs to investigate the potential 
misrepresentation was reasonable and appropriate, citing 

Parasco v. Pacific Indemnity Co., 920 F.Supp. 647 

(E.D.Pa.1996), and Salerno v. New Brunswick Fire Ins. 
Co., 72 Pa. D. & C. 33, 35, 1950 WL 3085 at *2 
(Lack.Ct.Com.Pl.1950) (holding that a provision in an 
insurance policy that required the insured to appear for an 
examination under oath pertaining to matters related to 
the risk insured under the policy was “unquestionably 
valid and generally so considered.”). 

In Parasco, the homeowners brought a bad faith claim 
against their insurer who conducted an investigation 
based on suspected misrepresentations regarding their 

claim for property loss caused by a fire. Parasco, 920 
F.Supp. at 652. In concluding that the insurer had good 
cause to deny the homeowners’ claim, the district court 
found that, in addition to the undisputed evidence of 
record, the insurer had not “conducted the investigation in 
a biased fashion, or for the improper purpose of evading 

its contractual duty to pay valid claims.” Id. at 656
(footnote omitted). The district court further found the 
insurance company’s investigation of the claim included 
an examination under oath of Mr. Parasco who, when 
given the opportunity to relate his version of the facts, 
lied under oath regarding matters material to the 
investigation. Id. Under those circumstances, the district 
court concluded that the homeowners could not prevail on 
their statutory bad faith claim. Id. 

State Farm submits that as in Parasco, the record here 
contains nothing that would suggest that State Farm 
conducted its investigation in a biased manner, or for the 
improper purpose of evading its contractual duty to pay 
valid claims. The Court agrees with State Farm. The 
uncontroverted evidence here shows that State Farm paid 
out $24,682.91 in property damages, and $8,193.00 for 
structural repairs on Plaintiffs’ claim, before it began to 
suspect possible material misrepresentations in Plaintiffs’ 
supplement claim. Moreover, the handling of Plaintiffs’ 
claim by the various State Farm representatives was, by 
Mrs. Schmitt’s own account, professional. Nothing in 
Mrs. Schmitt’s testimony regarding her interactions with 
the various State Farm representatives (or anywhere else 
in the record) would lead a reasonable jury to find that 
State Farm’s conduct was motivated by ill will, or could 
be construed as purposefully evading its contractual 
duties. Finally, the Policy expressly provides for the use 
of EUOs by State Farm to investigate a claim, and thus, 
its request that Mrs. Schmitt submit to an EUO is both 

reasonable and proper. Leo v. State Farm Mut. Auto. 
Ins. Co., 939 F.Supp. 1186, 1191 (E.D.Pa.1996)
(“Because State Farm’s request for a statement under oath 
was proper under the policy’s terms, State Farm had a 
reasonable basis for requesting the statement under oath 
in order to evaluate the plaintiff’s UIM claim.”); Murphy 
v. Fed. Ins. Co., 206 F. App’x 143, 148 (3d Cir.2006) (the 
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insurer had the right to take the depositions of insureds 
where policy unambiguously provided for same; insured’s 
refusal to cooperate in investigation and allow depositions 
of family members justified granting of summary 
judgment in favor of insurer on plaintiff’s bad faith 
claim). 

*13 Plaintiffs’ attempt to distinguish Parasco falls short 
of the mark. Plaintiffs argue that the district court’s 
decision, finding that Mr. Parasco made material 
representations to the insurer regarding his claim, was 
predicated upon affidavits of third parties that refuted the 
statements made by Mr. Parasco to the insurer. Plaintiffs 
submit that no such evidence has been adduced here 
either in State Farm’s investigation or subsequently in 
discovery. According to Plaintiffs, the suspicions of State 
Farm’s claims representatives that Mrs. Schmitt has been 
untruthful are not a reasonable basis to deny an insurance 
claim. At the outset, the Court notes that State Farm has 
not denied Plaintiffs’ claim. The investigation of their 
supplemental claim was ongoing when Plaintiffs 
instituted the present action. Moreover, nothing in 
Parasco suggests that affidavits from third parties are 
required to conduct an investigation of a supplemental 
claim, including that the insureds submit to an EUO. 
Plaintiffs fail to cite any authority for their position, and 
the Court is not aware of any such requirement. Indeed, 
the Policy specifically provides as a condition of coverage 
that Plaintiffs submit to EUOs. Policy at 13. 

In opposing the summary judgment motion, Plaintiffs 
contend that “State Farm relies solely on conclusory 
statements made by its own representatives, each of 
which is not supported by any independent evidence and 
instead is based solely upon the assumption of the claims 
representative.” Pls.’ Br. in Resp. at 9, ECF No. 29. 
Plaintiffs seem to rely on law governing motions for 
summary judgment in Pennsylvania courts, which 
provides that “[o]ral testimony alone, either through 
testimonial affidavits or depositions, of the moving part or 
the moving party’s witnesses, even if uncontradicted, is 
generally insufficient to establish the absence of a genuine 
issue of material fact.” Pa. R.C.P. No. 1035.2 Official 

Note (citing Nanty–Glo v. Am. Surety Co., 309 Pa. 
236, 163 A. 523 (Pa.1932); Penn Center House, Inc. v. 
Hofman, 520 Pa. 171, 553 A.2d 900 (Pa.1989)). The 
standard annunciated by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court 
in Nanty–Glo is inapplicable to summary judgment 
motions in federal court. As stated above, summary 
judgment motions in federal court are governed by the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, in particular, Rule 56. 
The argument that testimony from State Farm employees 
such as Ms. Zidek or Mr. Knight should be disregarded, 
and that the lack of testimony from a third party should be 

considered significant, is completely unfounded. 

While the O’Donnell court found that “ section 8371 is 
not restricted to an insurer’s bad faith in denying a claim,” 
and that “[a]n action for bad faith may also extend to the 
insurer’s investigative practices,” the evidentiary burden 
is on a plaintiff to establish such a claim by clear and 

convincing evidence. O’Donnell, 734 A.2d at 906. In 
the instant case, Plaintiffs provide no evidence to suggest 
that State Farm’s investigation was conducted in a biased 
fashion, or for the improper purpose of evading its 
contractual duty to pay valid claims. Furthermore, as State 
Farm did not deny coverage with respect to Plaintiffs’ 
claims, either at the outset of this litigation or at the 
current time, then there is little, if any, evidence to 
suggest that (1) the insurer lacked a reasonable basis for 
denying benefits under the applicable policy, or that (2) 
the insurer knew or recklessly disregarded the lack of a 

reasonable basis for refusing the claim. Loos, 476 

F.Supp.2d at 490 (citing Terletsky, 649 A.2d at 688 
(Pa.Super.Ct.1994)). 

*14 The crux of Plaintiffs’ opposition to the Motion for 
Partial Summary judgment here is their assertion that 
State Farm cannot offer evidence supporting its suspicion 
that Plaintiffs misrepresented their personal property loss. 
In fact, State Farm has come forward with significant 
evidence to the effect that its investigation of Plaintiffs’ 
supplemental claim had a reasonable basis. Defendant has 
produced witnesses from both State Farm and ServPro 
whose testimonies contradict certain statements made by 
Mrs. Schmitt regarding the property loss. State Farm also 
points to the credibility of Mrs. Schmitt’s statement that 
she was carrying nine sets of sheets and a comforter while 
on crutches after sustaining an ankle injury. (E. Schmitt 
Dep. 20, 45–6, 100.) The reasonableness of State Farm’s 
investigation is also supported by the unusually large 
number of expensive electronics and clothing items 
present in the basement. 

Plaintiffs have not come forward with clear and 
convincing evidence to dispute the reasonable basis 
proffered by State Farm for its investigation of the 
Plaintiffs’ supplemental claim. Plaintiffs instead have 
relied on their position that State Farm is unable to 
produce evidence supporting its position. As a result, 
Plaintiffs have not met the evidentiary standard to oppose 
the motion. To withstand summary judgment, the 
opposing party “must raise more than a mere scintilla of 
evidence in its favor and may not merely rely on 
unsupported assertions, conclusory allegations or mere 
suspicions.” Gringeri v. Maryland Cas. Co., Civ. A. No. 
97–7373, 1998 WL 212762, at *5 (E.D.Pa. Apr.29, 1998)
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(citing Penchishen v. Stroh Brewery Co., 932 F.Supp. 
671, 673 (E.D.Pa.1996)). Plaintiffs bear the burden of 
proving that State Farm’s referral to its SIU for further 
investigation, or that its request for an EUO were done in 

sufficient bad faith to sustain a claim under § 8371. 
They have not done so. Therefore, the Court recommends 
that summary judgment be entered in favor of State Farm 
on Plaintiffs’ bad faith claim. As such, the Court need not 
address State Farm’s alternative argument as to punitive 
damages, as that issue is now moot. 

III. CONCLUSION 
For the reasons set forth above, the Court finds that no 
material issues of fact exist and that a reasonable fact 
finder could not find that there was no reasonable basis 
for State Farm’s investigation of Plaintiffs’ supplemental 
claim. Therefore, the Court finds that Defendant State 
Farm is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on 
Plaintiffs’ statutory bad faith claim. Accordingly, it is 

respectfully recommended that the Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment (ECF No. 23) filed by Defendant, 
State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, be granted and 
that the statutory bad faith claim set forth in Count II of 
the Complaint be dismissed. 

In accordance with the Magistrate Judges Act, 28 
U.S.C. § 636(b) (1)(B) and (C), and rule 72.D.2 of the 
Local Rules of Court, the parties are allowed fourteen 
(14) days from the date of service of a copy of this Report 
and Recommendation to file objections. Any party 
opposing the objections shall have fourteen (14) days 
from the date of service of objections to respond thereto. 
Failure to file timely objections will constitute a waiver of 
any appellate rights. 

All Citations 

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2011 WL 4368400 

Footnotes

1 Plaintiffs deny this fact on the basis that they are “without sufficient knowledge to determine the truth or falsity” of 
this statement. (Pls.’ Concise Stmt. of Mat. Facts in Opp’n to Mot. for Partial Summ. J. (“Pls.’ CSMF in Opp’n”), 

2 The PPI worksheets dated September 9, 15 and 18, 2008, are collectively referred to as “September PPI worksheets” 
or “supplemental claim.” 

3 Plaintiff disputes that the items discussed with Ms. Zidek were all stored in the basement. Rather, Plaintiff claims 
that some of the items purchased were stored elsewhere in the household. (Pls.’ App., Ex. 15, ECF No. 30–1.) 
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